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IN THE MAHER OF: 

CONCRETE COATINGS, INC. 
1105 N. 1600 W. 
Layton, UT 84041 

RESPONDENT 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

FINAL ORDER 
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Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. §22. 13(b) and 22. I 8(b)(2) and (3), of EPA's Consolidated Rules 

of Practice, the Consent Agreement resolving this matter is hereby approved and incorporated by 

reference into this Final Order. The Respondent is hereby ORDERED to comply with all of the 

lemlS of the Consent Agreement, effecti ve immediately upon receipt by Respondent of this 

Consent Agreement and Final Order. 

SO ORDEREDTHIS if DAYOF -,~-"",==-____ , 2012. 

Elyana . Sulin 
Regional Judicial Officer 
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IN THE MA TIER OF: 

Concrete Coatings, lnc. 
1I05N 1600W 
Layton, UT 84041 

Respondent 

) I" ~. :x 

) 
) COMBINED COMPLAINT AND 
) CONSENT AGREEMENT 
) 
) DOCKET NO.: CAA-QS-2012-0007 

) 
) 
) 

COMPLAINT 

I. This civil administrative enforcement action is issued to Concrete Coatings, Inc. 

(Respondent) pursuant to section 113(a)(3)(B) of the Clean Air Act (CAA or the Act), 42 

U.S.C. § 7413(a)(3)(8), for alleged violations of sections 111(e) and 183 of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. 

§§ 741 1 (c) and §751 1 b and the National Volatile Organic Compound (VOC) Emission 

Standards for Architectural Coatings at 40 C.F.R. part 59, subpan D (the Architectural Coatings 

Rule). This proceeding is subject to EPA's Consolidated Rille of Practice Governing the 

Administrative Assessment of Civil Penalties and the Revocation or Suspension of Permits 

(Rules of Practice), 40 C.F.R. part 22. 

2. The undersigned EPA officials has been properly delegated the authority to issue this 

Combined Complaint and Consent Agreement (CCCA). 

3. 40 C.F.R. § 22.l3(b) provides that where the parties agree to settle one or more causes of 

action before the filing of a complaint, an administrative action may be commenced and 

concluded simultaneously by the issuance of a CCCA. 

4. The parties agree that the senling of this action without the filing of a complaint or the 

adjudication of any issue of fact or law is in their interest and in the public interest. 



5. Respondent consents to the terms of this CCCA, including the assessment of the civil 

penalty specified below. 

J URISDICTION AND WAIVER OF RIGHT TO HEARING 

6. Respondent admits the jurisdictional allegations in this CeCA and neither admits nor 

dcnies all remaining allegations herein. 

7. Respondent waives its right to a hearing before any tribunal to contest any issues orJaw 

or fact set forth in thi s CCCA. 

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

8. Section I 83(e) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7S l lb(e), authorizes U.S. EPA to promulgate 

regulations establishing requirements regarding the manufacture of certain consumer or 

commercial products, the use of which may result in the release of VOCs. 

9. Pursuant to section 1 83(e) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7Sllb(e), on September II, 1998, U.S. 

EPA promulgated the National VOC Emission Standards for Architectural Coatings at 40 C.F.R. 

Part 59, Subpart D (the Architectural Coatings Rule). 

10. The Architectural Coatings Rule applies to each "arch itectural coating," as that term is 

defined at 40 C.F.R. § 59.40 I, manufactured on or after September 13, 1999, for sale or 

distribution in the United States. 

11. The Archi tectural Coatings Rule, at 40 C.F.R. § 59.401 , defines "manufacturer" as a 

person that produces, packages, or repackages architectural coatings for sale or distribution in the 

United States. 

12. The Architectural Coatings Ru le, at 40 C.F.R. § 59.402(a), requires each manufacturer of 

any architectural coating subject to the Architectural Coatings Rule to ensure that the VCC 

content of the coating does not exceed the applicable limit in Table 1 of the Architectural 

Coatings Rule (Table I), except as provided in sections 59.403 and 59.404. 
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13. The Architectural Coatings Rule, at 40 C.F.R. § 59.403, states that each manufacturer of 

architectural coatings may cxceed the applicable VOC content limit in Table I if the 

manufacturer pays an annual exceedance fee. 

14. The Architectural Coatings Rule, at 40 C.F.R. § 59.408(d), states that each manufacturer 

of architectural coatings that uses the exceedance fee provisions of section 59.403 must submit 

the report and exceedancc fee payment by March I following the calendar year in which the 

coating was manufactured. 

15. The Architectural Coatings Rulc, at 40 C.F.R. § 59.404, states that each manufacturer of 

architectural coatings may des ignatc a limited quanti ty of coatings to be exempt from the VOC 

content limits in Table 1 and the exceedance fee provisions of section 59.403. 

16. The Architectural Coatings Rule, at 40 C. F.R. § 59.407, statcs that each manufacturer 

using the exceedance fee provisions in section 59.403 or the tonnage exemptions in section 

59.404, as an alternative to achieving the VOC content limits in Table I, shall maintain certai n 

written or electronic forms and records. 

17. The Architectural Coatings Rule, at 40 C.F.R. § 59.408, states that each manufacturer of 

architectural coatings shall submit certain notifications and reports to EPA, including tonnage 

and exceedance fcc documentation. 

18. The Administrator of U.S. EPA (the Administrator) may assess a civil pcnalty of up to 

$27,500 per day of violation up to a total of $220,000 for violations of the Architectural Coatings 

Rule that occurred from January 31 , 1997 through March 15,2004; $32,500 per day of violation 

up to a tota l of$270,000 for violations that occurred aftcr March 15, 2004; and $37,500 per day 

of violation up to a total of $295,000 for violations occuning after January 12, 2009 under 

section 11 3(d)( I) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(d)( I), and 40 C.F. R. Part 19. 

19. Section 11 3(d)( I) of the Act li mits the Administrator" s authority to matters where the 
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first alleged date of violation occurred no more than 12 months prior to initiation of the 

administrative action, except where the Administrator and the Attorney General of the United 

States jointly detennine that a matter involving a longer period of violation is appropriate for an 

administrative penalty action. The Administrator and the Attorney General of the United States, 

each through their respective delegates, have detennined jointly that an administrative penalty 

action is appropriate for the period of violation alleged in this CCCA. 

SPECIFIC ALLEGA nONS 

20. Respondent owns and operates a manufacturing plant located in Layton, Utah. 

21. Respondent is a corporation organized under the laws of the state of Utah. 

22. Respondent is a "person" as defined at section 302(e) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7602(e) 

and 40 C.F.R. § 59.401. 

23. Respondent started manufacturing and packaging SuperSeal2000 650 VOC Acrylic 

Sealer (SuperSeal 2000) in 1995 for sale and distribution. 

24. SupcrSeal 2000 is an "architectural coating" as defined at 40 C.F .R. § 59.40 I. 

25. SuperSeal 2000 is categorized as a "sta in" under the water-proofing and treatments sub­

category of Table 1 and has a VOC limitation or600 grams ofVOC per liter, except as provided 

in 40 C.F.R. §§ 59.403 and 59.404. 

26. Respondent is therefore a person that produces, packages, or repackages architectural 

coatings for sale or distribution in the United States, and is therefore a "manufacturer" of 

architectural coatings as defined at 40 C.F.R. § 59.401. 

27. Respondent was required to meet the 600 grams ofVOC per liter limitation when the 

rules became effective on September 13, 1999. 

28. Respondent manufactured, packaged, sold, and d istributed SuperSeal 2000 with a content 

0[650 grams per liter in exceedance of the 600 grams ofVOC per liter limitation from the 
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effective date of the rule (September 13, 1999) until Respondent remanufactured SuperSeal 

2000 on March 24, 2011 to contain Jess than the VOC limimtion. 

29. Manufacturers may produce a certain amount of coatings over the limit, up to 9 mega 

grams per year in the year 2002 and each subsequent year under 40 C.F.R § 59.404(a)(I). 

30. For any additional coatings produced over the limit, the manufacturer is required to pay a 

yearly exceedance fec. 

31. Prior to 2009, Respondent failed to maintain any vo lume records regarding the 

manufacture and sale of SuperScal 2000 in violation of 40 C. F.R. § 59.407. 

32. Prior to April, 20 11, Respondent failed to file any reports with EPA regarding its 

manufacture and sale of Super Seal 2000 in violation of 40 C.F.R. § 59.408. 

33. Respondent has never paid an exceedance fee or fi led a tonnage exemption for 

manufacturing SuperSeal 2000 above the limits in Table I in violation of 40 C.F.R. §§ 59.403 

and 59.404. 

PENALTY 

34. Sect ion 113(d)(I)(8) orthe Act, 42 U.S.C. § 741 3(d)(l)(8), and 40 C.F.R. 

pan 19 authorize the assessment of a civil penalty of up to $37,500 per day of violation for each 

violation of the Act or its implementing regulations. For purposes of detennining the amount of 

any civil penalty to be assessed, section 11 3(e)( I) orthe Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(e)(I), requires 

EPA to take into account, in addition to such other factors as justice may require, the size of lhe 

bus iness, the economic impact of the penalty on the bus iness, the vio lator's fu ll compliance 

history and good fa ith efforts to comply, the duration of the violation as established by any 

cred ible evidence (including evidence other than the applicable test method), payment by the 

violator of penal ties previously assessed for the same violation, the economic benefit of 

noncompliance, and the seriousness of lhe violation. 
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35. This ceCA, upon incorporation into a final order, applies to and is binding upon EPA, 

Respondent, and Respondent's heirs, successors or assigns. Any change in ownership or 

corporate status of Respondent, including, but not limited to, any transfer of assets or real or 

personal property, shall not alter Respondent's responsibilities under this agreement. This 

CCCA contains all terms of the settlement agreed to by the partics. Respondent consents and 

agrees to pay a civi l penalty in the amount of TWENTY FNE THOUSAND FIVE HUNDERD 

DOLLARS ($25,500.00) 

TERMS OF SETTLEMENT 

36. Respondent consents to the issuance of this CeCA, for the purposes of settlement and 

without admitting any of the allegations in thi s eCCA not heretofore admitted, and to the 

payment of the civil penalty cited in paragraph no. 35 above. Respondent shall pay the civil 

penaity cited in paragraph no. 35 above by making a total of eight (8) equal payments over a two 

(2) year period as set forth below. Respondent shall make an initial payment in the amount of 

T HREE THOUSAND 0 E IlUNDRED EIG HTY SEVEN DOLLARS A D FIFTY 

CENTS ($3 187.50) in the manner described below: 

a. Payment is due within 30 calendar days from the date written on the Final 
Order, issued by the Regional Judicial Officer, that adopts this CeCA. If 
the due date falls on a weekend or legal federal holiday, then the due date 
becomes the next business day. The date the payment is made is 
considered to be the date processed by Mellon Bank described below. 
Payments received by II :00 AM EST are processed on the same day, 
those rece ived after 11 :00 AM are processed on the next business day. 

b. The payment shall be made by remitting a cashier's or certified check, 
refercncing the name and dockct number of this case for this amount, 
paya ble to ';Environmental Protection Agency." to: 
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US checks by regular 
US postal service mail: 

Federal Express, Airborne, 
or other commercial carrier: 

Wire transfers: 

On Line Payment: 

US EPA Fines and Penalties 
Cincinnati Finance Center 
PO Box 979077 
St. Louis, MO 63197-9000 

U.S. Bank 
1005 Convention Plaza 
Mail Station SL--MO-C2GL 
St. Louis, MO 63 101 

Federal Reserve Bank of New York 
ABA ~ 021030004 
Account ~ 68010727 
SWIFT address ~ FRNYUS33 
33 Liberty Street 
New York NY 10045 
Field Tag 4200 of the Fedwire 
message should read "0 68010727 
Environmental Protect ion Agency" 

WWW.PAY.GOV 
Enter sfo 1.1 in the search field 

Open fonn and complete required 
fields. 

Copies of the check or wire transfer shall be simultaneously sent to: 

Marc Weiner, Enforcement Attorney 
U.S. EPA Region 8 (8ENF-L) 
1595 Wynkoop Street 
Denver, CO 80202-1129 

Albion Carlson 
U.S. EPA Region 8 (8ENF-AT) 
1595 Wynkoop Street 
Denver, CO 80202-1129 

Tina Artemis, Regional Hearing Clerk 
U.S. EPA Region 8 (8RC) 
1595 Wyn koop Street 
Denver, CO 80202- 11 29 

c. In the event payment is not received by the specified due date, interest 
accrues from the date of the Final Order, not the payment due date, at a 
rate establ ished by the Secretary of the Treasury pursuant to 31 U.S .c. 
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§ 3717, and wil l continue to accrue until the payment is received in full 
(i.e., on the I S\ late day of the first payment, 30 days of interest accrues; 
interest will accrue back to the Final Order date to the date of receipt for 
any subsequent late installment payments). 

d. In addition to the accrual of interest specifi ed in this paraf,'Taph 36(c) of 
this Agreement, a handling charge of fifteen dollars ($15.00) shall be 
assessed on the 31 S\ day from the date of the Final Order, and each 
subsequent 30-day period that the penalty, or any portion thereof, remains 
unpaid. In addition, a six percent (6%) per annum penalty shall be 
assessed on any unpaid principal amount if any penalty payment is not 
received within 90 days of the due date. Payments are first appl ied to 
outstanding handling charges, 6% penalty interest, and late interest. The 
remainder is then appl ied to the outstanding principal amount. 

e. Respondent agrees that the penalty shall never be claimed as a Federal or 
other tax deduction or credit. 

37. Respondent shall make seven add itional payments, each in the amount of: THREE 

THOUSAND ONE HUNDRED EIGHTY SEVEN DOLLARS AND FIFTY CENTS 

($3187.50), according to the following schedule and in the same manner as referenced in 

Paragraph 36 above: 

a. No later than September 30, 2012; 

h. No later than December 31 , 2012; 

c. No later than March 3 1, 2013; 

d. No later than June 30, 2013; 

e. No later than September 30, 2013; 

f. No later than December 3 1, 2013; and 

g. No laterthan March 3 1, 20 14. 

38. Respondent may pay the full penalty amount, or any remaining portion, any time prior to 

March 31, 2014, without incurring a pre-payment penalty. 
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39. EPA reserves the right to call due and Respondent must pay the outstanding balance 

thereof, including interest and penalties, within thirty days of receipt of notice that any of the 

above payments are late or have been missed. 

CERTIFICA nON OF COMPLIANCE 

40. On or before sixty (60) days after the date of the Final Order approving this CCCA, 

Respondent shall submit to EPA a Certification of Compliance, establishing that Respondent is 

in full compliance with the Aet and 40 C.F.R. part 59, subpart D. 

41. The Certification of Compliance shall conta in the date, printed name, and sib'llature of a 

Concrete Coatings officer, as well as the following statement: 

1 certify that 1 am authorized to verify the completion of work on beha(f of 
COl/crete Coatings, ll1c .. J cerllfy under penalty 0/ peljwy that the foregoing is 
true {lIld correct. 1 am aware that th ere are Significant p enalties for sllbmitting 
false in/ormatio1/, including the possibility offine and imprisonment. 

42. The Certification of Compliance shall be mailed or emailed to Albion Carlson at the 

fo llowing address: 

u.s . EPA Region 8, 
Attn: Albion Carlson, Mail Code: 8ENF-AT 
1595 Wynkoop Street 
Denver, CO 80202-1129 

E-mail: carlson.albion@epa.gov 

OTHER TERMS 

43 . Nothing in this CCCA shall relieve Respondent of the duty to comply with the CAA and 

its implementing regulations. 

44. Failure of Respondent to comply with any tenns of this CeCA shall constitute a breach 

and may result in referral of the matter to the U.S. Department of Justice for enforcement of this 

agreement and such other relief as may be appropriate. 

45. Nothing in the CCCA shall be construed as a waiver by the United States of its authority 
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to seek costs or any appropriate penalty associated with any action instituted as a result of 

Respondent' s failure to perform pursuant to the terms of this CCCA. 

46. The undersigned representative of Respondent certifies that he or she is fully authorized 

to enter into and legally bind Respondent to the tenns and conditions of this CCCA. 

47. The parties agree to submit this CCCA to the Regional Judicial Officer, with a request 

that it be incorporated into a final order. 

48 . Each party shall bear its own costs and attorney fees in connection with this matter. 

49. Respondent agrees that the penalty shall never be claimed as a federal or other tax 

deduction or credit. 

50. This CCCA, upon incorporation into a final order by the Regional Judicial Officer and 
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full satisfaction by the parties, shall be a complete and full civil settlement of the specific 

violations alleged in this CCCA. 

Date: By: 

Date: s: -.2- </-; .z By: 

U ITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL 
PROTECTION AGENCY, REGION 8, 
Office of Enforcement. Compliance, and 
Environmental Justice 

Complainant 

And w M. Gaydosh 
sistant Regional Administrator 

Office of Enforcement, Compliance and 
Environmental Justice 

CONCRETE COATINGS, INC. 
Layton, Utah 

Respondent 

II 



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

The undersigned certifies that the original of the attached COMBINED COM PLAINT, 
CONSENT AGREEMENT/FINAL ORDER in the maller o[CONCRETE COATINGS, 
INC.; I)OCKET NO.: CAA-08-2012-0007 was med wi th the Regional Hearing Clerk on June 
5,2012. 

Further, the undersigned certifies that a true and correct copy of the documents were 
del ivered to Marc Weiner, Enforcement Attorney, U. S. EPA - Region 8, 1595 Wynkoop Street, 
Denver, CO 80202· 1129. True and correct copies of the aforementioned documents were 
placed in the United States mail certified/return receipt requested and c-mailed on June 5, 2012. 

E-mailed to: 

June 5, 2012 

David B. Stevenson 
Stevenson & Smith, P. C. 
3986 Washington Blvd 
Ogden, UT 84403 

Elizabeth Whitsel 
U. S. Environmental Protection Agency 
Cincinnati Finance Center 
26 W. Martin Luther King Drive (MS-0002) 
Cincinnati~ Ohio 45268 

" tdfi ,,{2k-n2>o 
Tina Artemis 
Paralegal/Regional I-Iearing Clerk 

® Printed on Recycled P8per 


